
859

Food and Nutrition Service, USDA § 278.1

PART 278—PARTICIPATION OF RE-
TAIL FOOD STORES, WHOLESALE
FOOD CONCERNS AND INSURED
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Sec.
278.1 Approval of retail food stores and

wholesale food concerns.
278.2 Participation of retail food stores.
278.3 Participation of wholesale food con-

cerns.
278.4 Procedure for redeeming coupons.
278.5 Participation of insured financial in-

stitutions.
278.6 Disqualification of retail food stores

and wholesale food concerns, and imposi-
tion of civil money penalties in lieu of
disqualifications.

278.7 Determination and disposition of
claims—retail food stores and wholesale
food concerns.

278.8 Administrative review—retail food
stores and wholesale food concerns.

278.9 Implementation of amendments relat-
ing to the participation of retail food
stores, wholesale food concerns and in-
sured financial institutions.

278.10 [Reserved]

AUTHORITY: 7 U.S.C. 2011–2032.

EDITORIAL NOTE: OMB control numbers re-
lating to this part 278 are contained in § 271.8.

§ 278.1 Approval of retail food stores
and wholesale food concerns.

(a) Application. Any firm desiring to
participate in the program shall file an
application as prescribed by FNS. The
FNS officer in charge shall deny or ap-
prove authorization, or request more
information, within 30 days of receipt
of the application.

(b) Determination of authorization. An
applicant shall provide sufficient data
on the nature and scope of the firm’s
business for the FNS officer in charge
to determine whether the applicant’s
participation will further the purposes
of the program. In making this deter-
mination the FNS officer in charge
shall consider all of the following:

(1) The nature and extent of the food
business conducted by the applicant. (i)
Retail food stores which sell primarily
food for home preparation and con-
sumption and in which one or more
staple food items, as defined in § 271.2,
make up more than 50 percent of eligi-
ble food sales shall normally be consid-
ered to have food business of a nature
and extent which will further the pur-
poses of the program. These stores

shall include: Full-line grocery stores;
convenience stores; stores which sell
meat, poultry, or, fish; stands which
sell agricultural commodities; farmers
markets; milk routes; bread routes;
day-old bread stores; bakeries which
sell bread; and nonprofit cooperative
food-purchasing ventures which are
properly licensed to sell food in the
state and locality in which they are op-
erating.

(ii) Firms whose primary business is
not the sale of food for home prepara-
tion and consumption, but who have
recognized grocery departments in
which staple foods make up more than
50 percent of eligible food sales, shall
normally be considered to have food
business of a nature and extent which
will qualify the store for participation
in the program. In determining wheth-
er a store’s staple food business is suffi-
cient for the store to qualify for par-
ticipation in the program, the FNS of-
ficer in charge shall also consider:

(A) The volume of staple food busi-
ness the store does;

(B) The amount of sales of staple
foods compared to other business con-
ducted by the firm; and

(C) The availability of other author-
ized food stores in the area.

(iii) Wholesale food concerns whose
primary business is the sale of eligible
food at wholesale, and in which one or
more staple food items, as defined in
§ 271.2, make up more than 50 percent of
eligible food sales, shall normally be
considered to have adequate food busi-
ness for the purposes of the program.

(iv) No co-located wholesale/retail
food concern with 50 percent or less of
its total sales in retail food sales may
be authorized to redeem food stamps
unless it meets the criteria applicable
to all retail firms and:

(A) It is a legitimate retail food out-
let. Indicators which may establish to
FNS that a firm is a legitimate retail
food outlet include, but are not limited
to, the following:

(1) The firm’s marketing structure;
as may be determined by factors such
as, but not limited to:

(i) A retail business license;
(ii) The existence of sales tax records

documenting retail food sales; and/or
separate bookkeeping records; and
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(2) The way the firm holds itself out
to the public as evidenced by factors
such as, but not limited to:

(i) The layout of the retail sales
space;

(ii) The use of retail advertisements;
(iii) The posting of retail prices;
(iv) Offering specials to attract retail

customers;
(v) Hours of operation for retail busi-

ness;
(vi) Parking area for retail cus-

tomers; and
(B) It has total annual retail food

sales of at least $250,000; or
(C) It is a legitimate retail outlet but

fails to meet the requirements in para-
graph (b)(1)(iv)(B) of this section, and
not authorizing such a firm would
cause hardship to food stamp house-
holds. Hardship would occur in any one
of the following circumstances:

(1) Program recipients would have
difficulty in finding authorized firms
to accept their coupons for eligible
food;

(2) Special ethnic foods would not
otherwise be available to recipients; or

(3) Recipients would be deprived of an
opportunity to take advantage of un-
usually low prices offered by the firm if
no other authorized firm in the area of-
fers the same types of food items at
comparable prices.

(2) The volume of coupon business
which FNS may reasonably expect the
firm to do. The FNS officer in charge
may consider such factors as the loca-
tion of a store and previous food sales
volumes in evaluating the ability of an
applicant firm to attract food stamp
business.

(3) The business integrity and reputa-
tion of the applicant. The FNS officer in
charge may consider:

(i) Criminal conviction records re-
flecting on the honesty or integrity of
officers or managers of the applicant
firm;

(ii) Official records of removal from
other Federal, State, or local pro-
grams;

(iii) Judicial determinations in civil
litigation adversely reflecting on the
integrity of officers or managers of the
applicant firm;

(iv) Evidence of an attempt to cir-
cumvent a period of disqualification
from the food stamp program or a civil

money penalty imposed for violations
of the Food Stamp Act and this part;

(v) Evidence of prior fraudulent be-
havior of officers, managers or employ-
ees of the applicant firm; and

(vi) Any other evidence reflecting on
the business integrity and reputation
of the applicant.

(4) Bonding for firms with previous
sanctions. (i) If the applicant firm has
been sanctioned for violations of this
part, by withdrawal or disqualification
from program participation, or by a
civil money penalty, the FNS officer-
in-charge shall, as a condition of future
authorization, require the applicant to
present a collateral bond which:

(A) Is issued by a bonding agent rec-
ognized under the law of the State in
which the applicant is conducting busi-
ness, and which is represented by a ne-
gotiable certificate only.

(B) Is payable to the Food and Nutri-
tion Service, U.S. Department of Agri-
culture;

(C) Cannot be canceled by the bond-
ing agent for non-payment of the pre-
mium by the applicant;

(D) Has a face value of $1,000 or an
amount equal to ten percent of the av-
erage monthly coupon redemption vol-
ume of the applicant for the immediate
twelve months prior to the effective
date of the most recent sanction which
necessitated the bond, whichever
amount is greater;

(E) Is valid at all times during which
the firm is authorized to participate in
the program; and

(F) Remains in the custody of the of-
ficer-in-charge unless released to the
applicant as a result of the withdrawal
of the applicant’s authorization, with-
out a fiscal claim established against
the applicant by FNS.

(ii) Furnishing a collateral bond shall
not eliminate or reduce a firm’s obliga-
tion to pay in full any civil money pen-
alty or previously determined fiscal
claim which may have been assessed
against the firm by FNS prior to the
time the bond was required by FNS,
and furnished by the firm. A firm
which has been assessed a civil money
penalty shall pay FNS as required, any
subsequent fiscal claim asserted by
FNS. In such cases a collateral bond
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shall be furnished to FNS with the pay-
ment, or a schedule of intended pay-
ments, of the civil money penalty. A
buyer or transferee shall not, as a re-
sult of the transfer or purchase of a
disqualified firm, be required to furnish
a bond prior to authorization.

(5) Taxpayer identification numbers. At
the time of an initial request for au-
thorization as well as reauthorization,
an applicant firm must provide its em-
ployer identification number and social
security numbers as described below:

(i) Employer Identification Number.
The firm must provide its employer
identification number (EIN) if one has
been assigned to the firm by the Inter-
nal Revenue Service. The authority to
request EINs and the guidelines for re-
questing EINs are set forth in section
6109(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 and Treas. Reg. § 301.6109–2 (26 CFR
301.6109–2).

(ii) Social Security Number. In addition
to the EIN, the firm must provide the
social security numbers (SSNs) of the
following individuals:

(A) The SSN of an owner of a sole
proprietorship.

(B) The SSNs of general partners of
firms which are partnerships.

(C) The SSNs of up to five of the larg-
est shareholders (owners) of privately
owned corporations. (For purposes of
this section, a privately owned cor-
poration is one which has shares or
stock that are not traded on a stock
exchange or available for purchase by
the general public.)

(6) Other factors. Any other factors
which the FNS officer in charge consid-
ers pertinent to the application under
consideration.

(c) Wholesalers. A wholesale food con-
cern may be authorized to accept cou-
pons only from a specified customer or
customers if it meets the requirements
of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this sec-
tion, and FNS determines it is required
as a redemption outlet:

(1) For one or more specified author-
ized drug addict or alcoholic treatment
programs,

(2) For one or more specified author-
ized group living arrangements,

(3) For one or more specified author-
ized shelters for battered women and
children,

(4) For one or more specified author-
ized nonprofit cooperative food-pur-
chasing ventures,

(5) For one or more specified author-
ized public or private nonprofit home-
less meal providers, or

(6) For one or more specified author-
ized retail food stores which are with-
out access to an insured financial insti-
tution which will redeem their cou-
pons.
No firm may be authorized to accept
and redeem coupons concurrently as
both a retail food store and a wholesale
food concern. Authorizations of whole-
sale food concerns granted prior to
January 28, 1982 shall expire on May 31,
1982. Wholesale food concerns desiring
to participate in the program after
that date must reapply for authoriza-
tion in accordance with the provisions
of this paragraph.

(d) Meal services. A meal delivery
service or communal dining facility de-
siring to prepare and serve meals to
households eligible to use coupons for
those meals in addition to meeting the
requirements of paragraphs (a) and (b)
of this section, must establish that:

(1) It is recognized as a tax exempt
organization by the Internal Revenue
Service; or

(2) It is a senior citizens’ center or
apartment building occupied primarily
by elderly persons and SSI recipients,
and their spouses; or

(3) It is a restaurant operating under
a contract with a State or local agency
to prepare and serve (or deliver) low-
cost meals to homeless persons, elderly
persons and SSI recipients (and in the
case of meal delivery services, to elder-
ly persons or handicapped persons) and
their spouses. Such a facility must
have more than 50 percent of its total
sales in food. The contracts of res-
taurants must specify the approximate
prices which will be charged.

(e) Treatment programs. Drug addict or
alcoholic treatment and rehabilitation
programs wishing to redeem through
wholesalers food stamps received from
or on behalf of their participants shall
in addition to meeting the require-
ments of paragraphs (a), (b) and (d)(1)
of this section, be under Part B of Title
XIX of the Public Health Service Act
(42 U.S.C. 300x et seq.). Approval to par-
ticipate is automatically withdrawn
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once the treatment and rehabilitation
program no longer meets the criteria
which would make it eligible for fund-
ing under part B of Title XIX (in ac-
cordance with the definition in Drug
addiction or alcoholic treatment and reha-
bilitation program in § 271.2).

(f) Group living arrangements. FNS
shall authorize as retail food stores
those group living arrangements wish-
ing to redeem coupons directly through
wholesalers. The group living arrange-
ment must, in addition to meeting re-
quirements of paragraphs (a), (b), and
(d)(1) of this section, be certified by the
appropriate agency or agencies of the
State under regulations issued under
section 1616(e) of the Social Security
Act or under standards determined by
the Secretary to be comparable to
standards implemented by appropriate
State agencies under section 1616(e) of
the Social Security Act. Approval to
participate is automatically cancelled
at any time that a program loses its
certification from the State agency or
agencies.

(g) Shelters for battered women and
children. FNS shall authorize as retail
food stores those shelters for battered
women and children wishing to redeem
coupons directly through wholesalers.
The shelter must be public or private
nonprofit, as defined in paragraph (d)(1)
of this section, and meet the require-
ments of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this
section. Shelters which also serve
other groups of individuals must have a
portion of the facility set aside on a
long-term basis to shelter battered
women and children. Also required is
that the shelter be a residence which
serves meals or provides food to its
residents.

(h) House-to-house trade routes. FNS
shall, in consultation with the Depart-
ment’s Office of Inspector General, de-
termine those locations where the op-
eration of trade routes damages the
program’s integrity. FNS may limit
the authorization of house-to-house
trade routes to those trade routes
whose services are required by partici-
pating households in such areas in
order to obtain food. The FNS Officer
in Charge, in deciding whether house-
holds in such areas require a trade
route’s services, shall consider the vol-
ume of food business the trade route

does and the availability of alternate
sources of comparable food. An FNS of-
ficial shall inspect any applicant trade
route’s vehicle to ensure that the trade
route is a retail food store before au-
thorizing it to accept coupons. An FNS
official may require, as a condition of
continuing authorization, that the
trade route vehicle be reinspected
semiannually to ensure that it contin-
ues to be a retail food store.

(i) Private homeless meal providers.
FNS may authorize as retail food
stores those restaurants which con-
tract with the appropriate State agen-
cy to serve meals to homeless persons
at ‘‘concessional’’ (low or reduced)
prices. Restaurants shall be responsible
for obtaining contracts with the appro-
priate State agency as defined in § 272.9
and for providing a copy of the con-
tract to FNS at the time it applies for
authorization to accept food stamp
benefits. Contracts must specify the
approximate prices which will be
charged. Examples of reduced prices in-
clude, but are not limited to, a percent-
age reduction, a set dollar amount re-
duction, a daily special meal, or an
offer of a free food item or beverage
(excluding alcoholic beverages).

(j) Authorization card. Upon approval,
FNS shall issue a nontransferable au-
thorization card to the firm. The au-
thorization card shall be retained by
the firm until superseded, surrendered,
or revoked as provided in this part.

(k) Denying authorization. FNS shall
deny the application of any firm if it
determines that:

(1) The firm does not qualify for par-
ticipation in the program as specified
in paragraph (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g) or
(h) of this section; or

(2) The firm has failed to pay in full
any fiscal claim assessed against the
firm under § 278.7 or any fines assessed
under § 278.6(l) or § 278.6(m). The FNS
officer in charge shall issue a notice to
the firm by certified mail or personal
service of any authorization denial and
shall advise the firm that it may re-
quest review of that determination.

(l) Withdrawing authorization. (1) FNS
shall withdraw the authorization of
any firm authorized to participate in
the program for any of the following
reasons.
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(i) The firm’s continued participation
in the program will not further the
purposes of the program;

(ii) The firm fails to meet the speci-
fications of paragraph (b), (c), (d), (e),
(f), (g), or (h) of this section;

(iii) The firm has been found to be
circumventing a period of disqualifica-
tion or a civil money penalty through
a purported transfer of ownership;

(iv) The firm has failed to pay fines
assessed under § 278.6(l) or § 278.6(m); or

(v) The firm is required under State
and/or local law to charge tax on eligi-
ble food purchased with coupons or to
sequence or allocate purchases of eligi-
ble foods made with coupons and cash
in a manner inconsistent with 272.1 of
these regulations.

(2) The FNS officer in charge shall
issue a notice to the firm by certified
mail or personal service to inform the
firm of the determination and of the
review procedure. FNS shall remove
the firm from the program if the firm
does not request review within the pe-
riod specified in § 279.5.

(m) Refusal to accept correspondence or
to respond to inquiries. FNS may with-
draw the authorization of any firm
which:

(1) Refuses to accept correspondence
from FNS;

(2) Fails to respond to inquiries from
FNS within a reasonable time; or

(3) Cannot be located by FNS with
reasonable effort.

(n) Periodic reauthorization. At the re-
quest of FNS a retail food store or
wholesale food concern will be required
to undergo a periodic reauthorization
determination by updating any or all
of the information on the firm’s appli-
cation form. Failure to cooperate in
the reauthorization process will result
in withdrawal of the firm’s approval to
participate in the program.

(o) Removal from the Special Supple-
mental Nutrition Program, for Women, In-
fants, and Children (WIC). (1) FNS shall
withdraw the Food Stamp Program au-
thorization of any firm which is dis-
qualified from the WIC Program based
in whole or in part on any act which
constitutes a violation of that pro-
gram’s regulation and which is shown
to constitute a misdemeanor or felony
violation of law, or for any of the fol-
lowing specific program violations:

(i) Claiming reimbursement for the
sale of an amount of a specific food
item which exceeds the store’s docu-
mented inventory of that food item for
a specified period of time.

(ii) Exchanging cash or credit for
WIC food instruments;

(iii) Receiving, transacting and/or re-
deeming WIC food instruments outside
of authorized channels;

(iv) Accepting WIC food instruments
from unauthorized persons;

(v) Exchanging non-food items for a
WIC food instrument;

(vi) Charging WIC customers more
for food than non-WIC customers or
charging WIC customers more than
current shelf price; or

(vii) Charging for food items not re-
ceived by the WIC customer or for
foods provided in excess of those listed
on the food instrument.

(2) FNS shall not withdraw the Food
Stamp Program authorization of a firm
which is disqualified from the WIC Pro-
gram unless prior to the time pre-
scribed for securing review of WIC dis-
qualification action, the firm was pro-
vided notice that it could be withdrawn
from the Food Stamp Program based
on the WIC violation. Once a firm has
served the period of removal from WIC
specified by the State agency, the firm
may reapply for Food Stamp Program
authorization and be approved if other-
wise eligible.

(p) Applications containing false infor-
mation. The filing of any application
containing false or misleading informa-
tion may result in the denial or with-
drawal of approval to participate in the
program and may subject the firm and
persons responsible to civil or criminal
action.

(q) Administrative review. Any with-
drawal or denial of authorization to
participate in the program shall be
subject to administrative review under
§ 278.8.

(r) Use and disclosure of information
provided by firms. With the exception of
EINs and SSNs, the contents of an ini-
tial application, or other information
required to be submitted by retail food
stores and wholesale food concerns to
determine continued eligibility, such
as ownership information and sales and
redemption data, may be disclosed to
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and used by Federal and State law en-
forcement and investigative agencies
for the purpose of administering or en-
forcing the Food Stamp Act or any
other Federal or State law, and the
regulations issued under the Food
Stamp Act or such other law. Such dis-
closure and use shall also include com-
panies or individuals under contract
for the operation by, or on behalf of
FNS to accomplish an FNS function.
Such purposes include the audit and
examination of such information by
the Comptroller General of the United
States authorized by any other provi-
sion of law. Any person who publishes,
divulges, discloses, or makes known in
any manner or to any extent not au-
thorized by Federal law or regulations
any information obtained under this
paragraph shall be fined not more than
$1,000 or imprisoned not more than 1
year, or both. Safeguards with respect
to employee identification numbers
(EINs) are contained in paragraph (r)(2)
of this section. Safeguards with respect
to Social Security numbers (SSNs) are
contained in paragraph (r)(3) of this
section.

(1) Criteria for requesting information.
FNS shall determine what information
can be disclosed and which government
agencies have access to that informa-
tion based on the following criteria:

(i) Federal and State law enforce-
ment or investigative agencies or in-
strumentalities administering or en-
forcing specified Federal and State
laws, or regulations issued under those
laws, have access to certain informa-
tion maintained by FNS. Such agencies
or instrumentalities must have among
their responsibilities the enforcement
of law or the investigation of suspected
violations of law. However, only cer-
tain Federal entities have access to in-
formation involving SSNs and EINs in
accordance with paragraph (r)(1)(ii) of
this section;

(ii) Except for SSNs and EINs, infor-
mation provided to FNS by applicants
and authorized firms participating in
the FSP may be disclosed and used by
qualifying Federal and State entities
in accordance with paragraph (r)(1)(i)
of this section. The disclosure of SSNs
and EINs is limited only to qualifying
Federal agencies or instrumentalities
which otherwise have access to SSNs

and EINs based on law and routine use.
Release of information under this para-
graph shall be limited to information
relevant to the administration or en-
forcement of the specified laws and
regulations, as determined by FNS;

(iii) Requests for information must
be submitted in writing, including elec-
tronic communication, and must clear-
ly indicate the specific provision of law
or regulations which would be adminis-
tered or enforced by access to re-
quested information, and the relevance
of the information to those purposes. If
a formal agreement exists between
FNS and another agency or instrumen-
tality, individual written requests may
be unnecessary. FNS may request addi-
tional information if needed to clarify
a request;

(iv) Disclosure by FNS is limited to:
Information about applicant stores and
concerns with applications on file; in-
formation about authorized stores par-
ticipating in the FSP; and information
about unauthorized entities or individ-
uals illegally accepting or redeeming
food stamps;

(v) Requests for information disclo-
sure by FNS may involve a specific
store or concern, or some or all stores
and concerns covered by paragraph
(r)(1)(iv) of this section. In addition,
FNS may sign agreements allowing
certain government entities direct ac-
cess to appropriate FNS data, with ac-
cess to EINs and SSNs limited only to
other Federal agencies and instrumen-
talities that otherwise have access to
such numbers.

(2) Employer identification numbers. (i)
The Department may have access to
the EINs obtained pursuant to para-
graph (b)(5) of this section for the pur-
pose of establishing and maintaining a
list of the names and EINs of the stores
and concerns for use in determining
those applicants who previously have
been sanctioned or convicted under sec-
tions 12 and 15 of the Food Stamp Act
of 1977, as amended, (7 U.S.C. 2021 or
2024). The Department also may share
EINs with other Federal agencies and
instrumentalities that otherwise have
access to EINs if the Department deter-
mines that such sharing would assist in
verifying and matching such informa-
tion against information maintained
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by such other agency or instrumental-
ity. Any such information shared pur-
suant to this paragraph may be used by
the Department or such other agency
or instrumentality for the purpose of
effective administration and enforce-
ment of the Food Stamp Act of 1977, as
amended, or for the purpose of inves-
tigating violations of other Federal
laws or enforcing such laws. See Treas.
Reg. § 301.6109–2 (b) and (c) (26 CFR
301.6109–2 (b) and (c)).

(ii) The only persons permitted ac-
cess to EINs obtained pursuant to para-
graph (b) of this section are officers
and employees of the United States,
who otherwise have access and whose
duties or responsibilities require access
to the EINs for the administration or
enforcement of the Food Stamp Act of
1977, as amended, or for the purpose of
investigating violations of other Fed-
eral laws or enforcing such laws. See
Treas. Reg. § 301.6109–2(d)(1) (26 CFR
301.6109–2(d)(1)).

(iii) The Department or any agency
or instrumentality of the United
States shall provide for any additional
safeguards that the Secretary of the
Treasury determines to be necessary or
appropriate to protect the confidential-
ity of the EINs. The Department may
also provide for any additional safe-
guards to protect the confidentiality of
EINs so long as these safeguards are
consistent with any safeguards deter-
mined by the Secretary of the Treasury
to be necessary or appropriate. See
Treas. Reg. § 301.6109–2(d)(2) (26 CFR
301.6109–2(d)(2)).

(iv) EINs maintained by the Depart-
ment or maintained by any agency or
instrumentality of the United States
pursuant to § 278.1(b)(5) are confiden-
tial. Except as provided in paragraph
(r)(2)(ii) of this section above, no offi-
cer or employee of the United States
who has or had access to any such EIN
may disclose that number in any man-
ner. For purposes of paragraph (r)(2)(iv)
of this section the term officer or em-
ployee includes a former officer or em-
ployee. See Treas. Reg. § 301.6109–2(e)
(26 CFR 301.6109(e)).

(v) Sections 7213(a) (1), (2) and (3) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 apply
with respect to the unauthorized, will-
ful disclosure to any person of EINs ob-
tained by the Department pursuant to

§ 278.1(b)(5) in the same manner and to
the same extent as sections 7213(a) (1),
(2) and (3) apply with respect to unau-
thorized disclosure of returns and re-
turn information described in those
sections. Section 7213(a)(4) of the Inter-
nal Revenue Code of 1986 applies with
respect to the willful offer of any item
of material value in exchange for any
EIN obtained by the Department pur-
suant to § 278.1(b)(5) in the same man-
ner and to the same extent as section
7213(a)(4) applies with respect to offers
(in exchange for any return or return
information) described in that section.
See Treas. Reg. § 301.6109–2(f) (26 CFR
301.6109–2(f)).

(3) Social Security numbers. (i) The De-
partment may have access to SSNs ob-
tained pursuant to paragraph (b)(5) of
this section for the purpose of estab-
lishing and maintaining a list of names
and SSNs of stores and concerns for use
in determining those applicants who
previously have been sanctioned or
convicted under section 12 or 15 of the
Food Stamp Act of 1977, as amended, (7
U.S.C. 2021 or 2024). The Department
may use this determination of sanc-
tions and convictions in administering
sections 12 and 15 of the Food Stamp
Act of 1977, as amended, (7 U.S.C. 2018,
2021). The Department also may share
SSNs with other Federal agencies and
instrumentalities if the Department
determines that such sharing would as-
sist in verifying and matching such in-
formation against information main-
tained by the Department or such
other agency or instrumentality. Any
such information shared pursuant to
this paragraph shall be used for the
purpose of effective administration and
enforcement of the Food Stamp Act of
1977, as amended, or for the purpose of
investigating violations of other Fed-
eral laws or enforcing such laws.

(ii) The only persons permitted ac-
cess to SSNs obtained pursuant to
paragraph (b) of this section are offi-
cers and employees of the United
States, who otherwise have access, and
whose duties or responsibilities require
access to the SSNs for the administra-
tion or enforcement of the Food Stamp
Act of 1977, as amended, or for the pur-
pose of investigating violations of
other Federal laws or enforcing such
laws. Such access shall also include
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companies or individuals under con-
tract for the operation by, or on behalf
of FNS to accomplish an FNS function.

(iii) The Department shall provide
for all additional safeguards that the
Secretary of Health and Human Serv-
ices determines to be necessary or ap-
propriate to protect the confidentiality
of the SSNs. The Department may also
provide for any additional safeguards
to protect the confidentiality of SSNs
so long as these safeguards are consist-
ent with any safeguards determined by
the Secretary of Health and Human
Services to be necessary or appro-
priate.

(iv) The SSNs and related records
that are obtained or maintained by au-
thorized persons are confidential, and
no officer or employee shall disclose
any such SSN or related record except
as authorized. The term ‘‘related
record’’ means any record, list, or com-
pilation that indicates, directly or in-
directly, the identity of any individual
with respect to whom a request for a
SSN is maintained. For purposes of
paragraph (r)(3)(iv) of this section the
term ‘‘officer or employee’’ includes a
former officer or employee.

(v) The sanctions under sections
7213(a) (1), (2) and (3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 will apply with
respect to the unauthorized, willful dis-
closure to any person of SSNs and re-
lated records obtained or maintained in
the same manner and to the same ex-
tent as sections 7213(a) (1), (2) and (3)
apply with respect to unauthorized dis-
closures of returns and return informa-
tion described in those sections. The
sanction under section 7213(a)(4) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 will
apply with respect to the willful offer
of any item of material value in ex-
change for any SSN or related record
in the same manner and to the same
extent as section 7213(a)(4) applies with
respect to offers (in exchange for any
return or return information) described
in that section.

(4) FNS initiated matches. Under the
restrictions noted in paragraph (r) of
this section, FNS will periodically ini-
tiate cross matches of retailer data
with other Federal and State agencies’
files for the purpose of verifying infor-
mation provided by applicant and par-
ticipating firms, and for the purposes

of administering and enforcing other
Federal or State laws. Such matches
could involve all firms participating
after implementation for the purpose
of verifying information such as, but
not limited to, SSNs and retail sales
data.

(s) Public and Private Nonprofit Home-
less Meal Providers. FNS shall authorize
as retail food stores, those public and
private nonprofit homeless meal pro-
viders which apply and qualify for au-
thorization to accept food stamps from
homless food stamp recipients. Such
meal providers must be public or pri-
vate nonprofit organizations as defined
by the Internal Revenue Service (I.R.C.
501(c)(3)), must serve meals that in-
clude food purchased by the provider,
must meet the requirements of para-
graphs (a) and (b) of this section, and
must be approved by an appropriate
State or local agency, pursuant to
§ 272.9. Public and private nonprofit
homeless meal providers shall be re-
sponsible for obtaining approval from
an appropriate State or local agency
and shall provide written documenta-
tion of such approval to FNS prior to
approval of the meal provider’s appli-
cation for authorization. (If such ap-
proval is subsequently withdrawn, FNS
authorization shall be withdrawn).
Public and private nonprofit homeless
meal providers serving meals which
consist wholly of donated foods shall
not be eligible for authorization. In an
area in which FNS, in consultation
with the Department’s Office of Inspec-
tor General, finds evidence that the au-
thorization of a public and private non-
profit homeless meal provider would
damage the Food Stamp Program’s in-
tegrity, FNS shall limit the participa-
tion of that public and private non-
profit homeless meal provider, unless
FNS determines that the establish-
ment or shelter is the only one of its
kind serving the area.

(t) Each authorized retail food store
shall post in a suitable and conspicuous
location in the store a sign designed
and provided by FNS which provides
information on how persons may report
abuses they have observed in the oper-
ation of the program. Refusal or re-
peated failure to display such a sign by
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an authorized retail food store may re-
sult in the withdrawal of the firm’s ap-
proval to participate in the program.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978]

EDITORIAL NOTE: For FEDERAL REGISTER
citations affecting § 278.1, see the List of CFR
Sections Affected in the Finding Aids sec-
tion of this volume.

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTES: 1. At 61 FR 53600,
Oct. 15, 1996, in § 278.1, paragraph (i) was re-
designated as paragraph (j) and a new para-
graph (i) was added. This paragraph contains
information collection and recordkeeping re-
quirements and will not become effective
until approval has been given by the Office of
Management and Budget. The Food and Nu-
trition Service will publish a document in
the FEDERAL REGISTER announcing the effec-
tive date.

§ 278.2 Participation of retail food
stores.

(a) Use of coupons. Coupons may be
accepted by an authorized retail food
store only from eligible households or
the households’ authorized representa-
tive, and only in exchange for eligible
food. Coupons may not be accepted in
exchange for cash, except when cash is
returned as change in a transaction in
which coupons were accepted in pay-
ment for eligible food under pargraph
(d) of this section. Coupons may not be
accepted in payment of interest on
loans or for any other nonfood use. An
authorized retail food store may not
accept coupons from another retail
food store, except that public or pri-
vate nonprofit homeless meal providers
may redeem coupons for eligible food
through authorized retail food stores.

(b) Equal treatment for coupon cus-
tomers. Coupons shall be accepted for
eligible foods at the same prices and on
the same terms and conditions applica-
ble to cash purchases of the same foods
at the same store except that tax shall
not be charged on eligible foods pur-
chased with coupons. However, nothing
in this part may be construed as au-
thorizing FNS to specify the prices at
which retail food stores may sell food.
However, public or private nonprofit
homeless meal providers may only re-
quest voluntary use of food stamps from
homeless food stamp recipients and
may not request such household using
food stamps to pay more than the aver-
age cost of the food purchased by the
public or private nonprofit homeless

meal provider contained in a meal
served to the patrons of the meal serv-
ice. For purposes of this section, ‘‘aver-
age cost’’ is determined by averaging
food costs over a period of up to one
calendar month. Voluntary payments
by food stamp recipients in excess of
such costs may be accepted by the
meal providers. The value of donated
foods from any source shall not be con-
sidered in determining the amount to
be requested from food stamp recipi-
ents. All indirect costs, such as those
incurred in the acquisition, storage, or
preparation of the foods used in meals
shall also be excluded. In addition, if
others have the option of eating free or
making a monetary donation, food
stamp recipients must be provided the
same option of eating free or making a
donation in money or food stamps. No
retail food store may single out coupon
users for special treatment in any way.

(c) Accepting coupons. No authorized
retail food store may accept coupons
marked ‘‘paid,’’ ‘‘canceled,’’ or ‘‘speci-
men.’’ Nor may a retail food store ac-
cept coupons bearing any cancellation
or endorsement, or coupons of other
than the 1-dollar denomination which
have been detached from the coupon
books prior to the time of purchase or
delivery of eligible food unless the de-
tached coupons are accompanied by the
coupon books which bear the same se-
rial numbers that appear on the de-
tached coupons. However, in the case of
public or private nonprofit homeless
meal providers, retail food stores may
accept detached coupons which have
been accepted by the homeless meal
provider. It is the right of the house-
hold member or the authorized rep-
resentative to detach the coupons from
the book.

(d) Making change. An authorized re-
tail food store shall use, for the pur-
pose of making change, uncanceled and
unmarked 1-dollar coupons which were
previously accepted for eligible foods.
If change in an amount of less than 1-
dollar is required, the eligible house-
hold shall receive the change in cash.
However, in the case of public or pri-
vate nonprofit homeless meal provid-
ers, neither cash change nor credit
slips shall be provided under any cir-
cumstances when food stamps are used
to purchase meals. At no time may
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cash change in excess of 99 cents be re-
turned in a coupon transaction. An au-
thorized retail food store may not en-
gage in a series of coupon transactions
the purpose of which is to provide the
same food stamp customer an amount
of cash change greater than the maxi-
mum 99 cents cash change allowed in
one transaction.

(e) Accepting coupons before delivery.
Food retailers may not accept coupons
before delivering the food, retain cus-
tody of any unspent coupons, or in any
way prevent an eligible household from
using coupons in making purchases
from other authorized firms. However,
a nonprofit cooperative food purchas-
ing venture may accept coupons from a
member of the cooperative at the time
the member places a food order. The
food ordered must be made available to
the member within 14 days from the
day the cooperative receives the mem-
ber’s coupons.

(f) Paying credit accounts. Coupons
may not be accepted by an authorized
retail food store in payment for any el-
igible food sold to a household on cred-
it.

(g) Redeeming coupons. Authorized re-
tail food stores may exchange coupons
accepted in accordance with this part
for face value upon presentation
through the banking system or through
a wholesale food concern authorized to
accept coupons from that retailer. Au-
thorized drug addict or alcoholic treat-
ment and rehabilitation programs,
group living arrangements, and shel-
ters for battered women and children
may present coupons for redemption
through authorized wholesale food con-
cerns. A drug addict or alcoholic treat-
ment center, group living arrangement,
or shelter for battered women and chil-
dren may purchase food in authorized
retail food stores as the authorized rep-
resentative of its participating house-
holds. Public or private nonprofit
homeless meal providers may purchase
food in authorized retail food stores
and through authorized wholesale food
concerns. Authorized drug addict and
alcoholic treatment and rehabilitation
programs, group living arrangements,
shelters for battered women and chil-
dren, and public or private nonprofit
homeless meal providers for homeless
food stamp households shall not

present coupons directly to an insured
financial institution for redemption.

(h) Identifying coupon users. Coupons
may not knowingly be accepted from
persons who have no right to posses-
sion of coupons. If a food retailer has
any cause to believe that a person pre-
senting coupons has no right to use the
coupons, the food retailer should re-
quest the person to show the ID card of
the household to establish the right of
that person to use the coupons. Where
photo ID cards are in use, the person
presenting the ID card need not be pic-
tured on the card. Public or private
nonprofit homeless meal providers re-
deeming detached coupons through re-
tail food stores shall present their re-
tailer authorization card as proof of
their eligibility to redeem coupons
through retail food stores.

(i) Checking meal delivery service re-
cipients. A nonprofit meal delivery
service shall require the recipient of a
delivered meal to show the marked ID
card establishing the recipient’s right
to use coupons for that service the first
time that the recipient offers coupons
in payment for the service, and shall
request the marked ID card at any
time the nonprofit meal delivery serv-
ice has cause to question the continued
eligibility of the recipient to use cou-
pons for delivered meals.

(j) Checking hunting and fishing equip-
ment users. Authorized Alaskan retail-
ers shall require coupon customers
wanting to purchase hunting and fish-
ing equipment with coupons to show
their ID cards to determine that they
live in an area designated by FNS as
one in which persons are dependent
upon hunting and fishing for subsist-
ence.

(k) Checking participants in res-
taurants. A restaurant operating under
a State contract shall require a house-
hold purchasing meals to show the
marked ID card establishing the house-
hold’s right to purchase meals with
coupons unless the personnel of the
restaurant know that the program par-
ticipant tendering coupons is eligible
to use coupons to purchase meals.

(l) Checking public or private nonprofit
homeless meal provider recipients. Public
or private nonprofit homeless meal
providers shall establish a food stamp
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patron’s right to purchase meals with
coupons.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended at Amdt. 191, 46 FR 50277, Oct. 9,
1981; Amdt. 205, 46 FR 60167, Dec. 8, 1981;
Amdt. 257, 49 FR 32538, Aug. 15, 1984; Amdt.
286, 52 FR 7557, Mar. 11, 1987; 53 FR 31649,
Aug. 19, 1988; Amdt. 344, 56 FR 54778, Oct. 23,
1991; Amdt. 356, 59 FR 29714, June 9, 1994;
Amdt. 343, 61 FR 53601, Oct. 15, 1996]

§ 278.3 Participation of wholesale food
concerns.

(a) Accepting coupons. An authorized
wholesale food concern may accept en-
dorsed coupons from one or more speci-
fied authorized retail food stores, from
one or more specified authorized non-
profit cooperative food-purchasing ven-
tures, from one or more specified au-
thorized group living arrangements,
from one or more specified authorized
drug addict or alcoholic treatment pro-
grams, from one or more specified au-
thorized shelters for battered women
and children, or, from one or more
specified public or private nonprofit
homeless meal providers if the coupons
are accompanied by a properly filled-
out and signed redemption certificate,
and are not marked ‘‘paid,’’ ‘‘can-
celed,’’ or ‘‘specimen.’’ A wholesaler
authorized to accept coupons from an
authorized drug addict or alcoholic
treatment program, or from an author-
ized group living arrangement, or from
an authorized shelter for battered
women and children, or from one or
more public or private nonprofit home-
less meal providers may accept cou-
pons from that treatment program, or
group living arrangement, or shelter
for battered women and children, or
from one or more public or private non-
profit homeless meal providers, only in
exchange for food.

(b) Accepting legally obtained coupons.
No authorized wholesale food concern
may accept coupons if the wholesaler
knows or has reasonable cause to be-
lieve that the coupons were not legally
obtained for eligible food.

(c) Redeeming coupons. An authorized
wholesale food concern may redeem
coupons, properly accepted from retail-
ers, through the banking system, upon
presentation of the coupons with:

(1) The authorized retail food store’s
properly filled-out and signed redemp-
tion certificate for the coupons; and

(2) The authorized wholesale food
concern’s properly filled-out and signed
redemption certificate.

(d) Handling retailer redemption certifi-
cates. No authorized wholesale food
concern may alter, prepare, or com-
plete an authorized retail food store’s
redemption certificate.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 173, 46 FR 62810, Dec. 29,
1981; Amdt. 286, 52 FR 7558, Mar. 11, 1987;
Amdt. 344, 56 FR 54778, Oct. 23, 1991; Amdt.
343, 61 FR 53601, Oct. 15, 1996]

§ 278.4 Procedure for redeeming cou-
pons.

(a) Coupons accepted without author-
ization. Coupons accepted by a retail
food store or a wholesale food concern
before the receipt by the firm of an au-
thorization card from FNS may not be
presented for redemption unless the
FNS officer in charge has approved the
redemption under § 278.7(b). Burned or
mutilated coupons shall be presented
for redemption to the FNS officer in
charge as provided in § 278.7(c).

(b) Endorsing coupons. Each author-
ized retail food store or authorized
wholesale food concern shall mark its
authorization number or name on each
coupon before it presents the coupons
for redemption.

(c) Using redemption certificates. FNS
will provide all authorized firms with
redemption certificates. Wholesale food
concerns and retail food stores, except
for drug addict and alcoholic treatment
and rehabilitation programs and public
or private nonprofit homeless meal
providers, shall use the redemption cer-
tificates to present coupons to insured
financial institutions for credit or for
cash. All retail food stores which wish
to redeem coupons at wholesale food
concerns shall use the redemption cer-
tificates for that purpose. An author-
ized retail firm using redemption cer-
tificates to redeem coupons shall fill
out the redemption certificate to show
the value of the coupons redeemed, the
name of the insured financial institu-
tion or wholesaler, the date, and the
signature and title of the official of the
firm redeeming coupons.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 286, 52 FR 7558, Mar. 11,
1987; Amdt. 344, 56 FR 54778, Oct. 23, 1991;
Amdt. 343, 61 FR 53601, Oct. 15, 1996]
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§ 278.5 Participation of insured finan-
cial institutions.

(a) Accepting coupons. (1) Financial
institutions that are insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) or financial institutions which
are insured under the Federal Credit
Union Act and which have retail food
stores or wholesale food concerns in
their field of membership may redeem
coupons only from authorized retail
food stores, meal services, and whole-
sale food concerns in accordance with
the rules contained in this part and in-
structions of the Federal Reserve
Banks. No financial institution may
impose on or collect from a retail food
store a fee or other charge for redemp-
tion of coupons that are submitted to
the financial institution in a manner
consistent with the requirements, ex-
cept for coupon cancellation, for the
presentation of coupons by the finan-
cial institution to the Federal Reserve
banks. Coupons submitted to insured
financial institutions for credit or cash
must be properly endorsed in accord-
ance with § 278.4 of this part and shall
be accompanied by a properly com-
pleted and signed redemption certifi-
cate. All verified and encoded redemp-
tion certificates accepted by insured fi-
nancial institutions shall be forwarded
with the corresponding coupon deposits
to the Federal Reserve Bank along
with the accompanying Food Coupon
Deposit Document (Form FNS–521). In
accordance with Federal Reserve re-
quirements, the coupon deposit value
entered on the Food Coupon Deposit
Document must be equal to the actual
value of coupons being deposited and to
the total value of verified amounts en-
coded on the corresponding redemption
certificates.

(2) An insured financial institution
shall verify the amount of the coupons
being redeemed and record the amount
in the designated space on the redemp-
tion certificate. In order to conform
with Federal Reserve requirements, the
verified amount shall be recorded in
the appropriate field on the redemption
certificate using Magnetic Ink Char-
acter Recognition (MICR) encoding.
Redemption certificates accepted by
insured financial institutions shall be
forwarded with the corresponding cou-
pon deposits to the Federal Reserve

Bank along with the Food Coupon De-
posit Document (Form FNS–521).

(3) Redeemed coupons must be indeli-
bly cancelled on the face of the coupon
by the first insured financial institu-
tion receiving them. If the cancellation
on the coupon face does not show the
depositing institution’s name or its
routing symbol transit number, this
identifying information must appear
on the straps affixed to each bundle of
coupons of like denomination. Deposits
not meeting these cancellation require-
ments may be returned to the deposit-
ing institution for reprocessing. Retail
food stores may not be required to can-
cel the coupons by the insured finan-
cial institution nor may the insured fi-
nancial institution charge the retail
food stores a fee or other charge for
cancellation of coupons. A portion of a
coupon consisting of less than three-
fifths of a whole coupon may not be re-
deemed.

(4) Insured financial institutions
which are members of the Federal Re-
serve System, insured nonmember
clearing institutions, and insured non-
member institutions which have ar-
ranged with a Federal Reserve Bank to
deposit coupons for credit to the ac-
count of a member institution on the
books of a Federal Reserve Bank may
forward coupons directly to the Fed-
eral Reserve Bank. Other insured fi-
nancial institutions may forward can-
celled coupons through ordinary collec-
tion channels.

(b) Role of Federal Reserve Banks. Fed-
eral Reserve Banks, acting as fiscal
agents of the United States, will re-
ceive canceled coupons for collection
as cash items from armed forces instal-
lations, member insured financial in-
stitutions of the Federal Reserve Sys-
tem, nonmember clearing insured fi-
nancial institutions, and nonmember
insured financial institutions which
have arranged with a Federal Reserve
Bank to deposit coupons for credit to
the account of a member insured finan-
cial institution on the books of the
Federal Reserve Bank, and will charge
those items to the general account of
the Treasurer of the United States.

(c) FNS liability for losses. FNS shall
not be liable for the value of any cou-
pons lost, stolen, or destroyed while in
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the custody of an insured financial in-
stitution or for the value of coupons
lost, stolen, or destroyed while in tran-
sit from an insured financial institu-
tion to a Federal Reserve Bank.

(d) FNS use of coupons to detect viola-
tions. Regardless of any other provision
in these regulations, coupons may be
issued to, purchased by, or redeemed by
persons authorized by FNS to use those
coupons in examining and inspecting
program operations, and for other pur-
poses determined by FNS to be re-
quired for proper administration of the
program. Coupons which have been so
issued and used, as well as any coupons
which have been issued under para-
graph (g) of this section, or which FNS
believes may have been issued, trans-
ferred, negotiated, used, or received in
violation of this subchapter or of any
applicable statute, shall at the request
of FNS and on issuance of a receipt for
them be turned over to FNS by the in-
sured financial institution receiving
the coupons, or by any other person to
whom the request is addressed, to-
gether with any certificate(s) of re-
demption accompanying the coupons.
Any coupons so requested shall not be
eligible for redemption through Fed-
eral Reserve Banks or other collection
channels. However, FNS may redeem
coupons from any insured financial in-
stitution or person by payment of the
face amount of the coupons upon deter-
mination by FNS that this direct re-
demption of coupons is warranted. FNS
shall determine the proper disposition
of any coupons held by FNS on comple-
tion of the examination or inspection
in which the coupons were used. Claims
or demands for unredeemed coupons
surrendered to FNS may be mailed to
the local FNS field office for the
project area involved.

(e) Selling coupons to stores for internal
checks. FNS may sell coupons at face
value to any authorized retail food
store which wishes to use coupons to
conduct internal checks of coupon
transactions. The retail food store
must submit a written request to FNS
which shall include a certification that
the store recognizes that its use of cou-
pons will not affect FNS action to en-
force program regulations and that the
requested coupons will be used only for
internal checks of the store’s employ-

ees and only to uncover sales of items
other than eligible foods. The request
shall also include the name of the city
or county in which the stores to be
checked through the use of the re-
quested coupons are located and the
name and address of any outside agen-
cy with which the retail food store has
or will have a contract to conduct
checks of the store’s employees using
coupons. The request shall be directed
to the Benefit Redemption Division,
FSP, FNS, U.S. Department of Agri-
culture, 3101 Park Center Drive, Alex-
andria, VA 22302, and shall be accom-
panied by a check or money order made
payable to the Food and Nutrition
Service to cover the face value cost of
the coupons requested. Coupons bought
by retail food stores for use in internal
checks may be later redeemed for full
value in accordance with § 278.4, and in
redeeming those coupons, retail food
stores are authorized to make the cer-
tification required for redemption.

(f) Continued participation of house-
holds under investigation. Upon the writ-
ten request of Federal, State, or local
government agencies which have au-
thority to investigate, and are inves-
tigating, suspected violations of Fed-
eral or State statutes concerning the
enforcement of the Food Stamp Act or
the regulations, the State agency may
allow ineligible households to continue
program participation. The State agen-
cy may allow the households to con-
tinue participation in the program
until the earlier of (1) expiration of the
period of 90 days after the request is re-
ceived or any longer period which FNS,
upon request of the State agency, may
approve in a particular case, or (2) re-
ceipt of notification from the inves-
tigative agency that participation may
be terminated or that the investigation
has been completed. Regardless of any
other provision of these regulations,
FNS may not hold the State agency
liable for the value of any coupons
issued to households under this para-
graph.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 257, 49 FR 32538, Aug. 15,
1984; Amdt. 267, 51 FR 6514, Feb. 25, 1986;
Amdt. 272, 51 FR 12498, Apr. 11, 1986; Amdt.
288, 52 FR 11815, Apr. 13, 1987; Amdt. 272, 52
FR 18198, May 14, 1987; Amdt. 356, 59 FR 29714,
June 9, 1994; Amdt. 331, 59 FR 60062, Nov. 22,
1994]
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§ 278.6 Disqualification of retail food
stores and wholesale food concerns,
and imposition of civil money pen-
alties in lieu of disqualifications.

(a) Authority to disqualify or subject to
a civil money penalty. FNS may dis-
qualify any authorized retail food store
or authorized wholesale food concern
from further participation in the pro-
gram if the firm fails to comply with
the Food Stamp Act or this part. Dis-
qualification shall be for from 6
months to 5 years for the firm’s first
sanction; for from 12 months to 10
years for a firm’s second sanction; and
disqualification shall be permanent for
a firm’s third sanction or a disquali-
fication based on trafficking as defined
in § 271.2. Any firm which has been dis-
qualified and which wishes to be rein-
stated at the end of the period of dis-
qualification or at any later time shall
file a new application under § 278.1 of
this part so that FNS may determine
whether reauthorization is appropriate.
The application may be filed no earlier
than 10 days before the end of the pe-
riod of disqualification. FNS may, in
lieu of a disqualification, subject the
firm to a civil money penalty of up to
an amount specified in § 3.91(b)(3)(A) of
this title for each violation if FNS de-
termines that a disqualification would
cause hardship to participating house-
holds. FNS may impose a civil money
penalty of up to an amount specified in
§ 3.91(b)(3)(B) of this title for each vio-
lation in lieu of a permanent disquali-
fication for trafficking, as defined in
§ 271.2, in accordance with the provi-
sions of § 278.6(i) and § 278.6(j).

(b) Charge letter—(1) General provi-
sions. Any firm considered for disquali-
fication or imposition of a civil money
penalty under paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion or a fine as specified under para-
graph (l) or (m) of this section shall
have full opportunity to submit to FNS
information, explanation, or evidence
concerning any instances of noncompli-
ance before FNS makes a final admin-
istrative determination. The FNS re-
gional office shall send the firm a let-
ter of charges before making such de-
termination. The letter shall specify
the violations or actions which FNS
believes constitute a basis for disquali-
fication or imposition of a civil money
penalty or fine. The letter shall specify

the violations or actions which FNS
believes constitute a basis for disquali-
fication or imposition of a civil money
penalty. The letter shall inform the
firm that it may respond either orally
or in writing to the charges contained
in the letter within 10 days of receiving
the letter. The firm’s response shall set
forth a statement of evidence, informa-
tion, or explanation concerning the
specified violations or acts. The firm
shall make its response, if any, to the
officer in charge of the FNS field office
which has responsibility for the project
area in which the firm is located.

(2) Charge letter for trafficking. (i) The
charge letter shall advise a firm being
considered for permanent disqualifica-
tion based on evidence of trafficking as
defined in § 271.2 that the firm must no-
tify FNS if the firm desires FNS to
consider the sanction of a civil money
penalty in lieu of permanent disquali-
fication.

(ii) Firms that request consideration
of a civil money penalty in lieu of a
permanent disqualification for traf-
ficking shall have the opportunity to
submit to FNS information and evi-
dence as specified in § 278.6(i), that es-
tablishes the firm’s eligibility for a
civil money penalty in lieu of a perma-
nent disqualification in accordance
with the criteria included in § 278.6(i).
This information and evidence shall be
submitted within 10 days, as specified
in § 278.6(b)(1).

(iii) If a firm fails to request consid-
eration for a civil money penalty in
lieu of a permanent disqualification for
trafficking and submit documentation
and evidence of its eligibility within
the 10 days specified in § 278.6(b)(1), the
firm shall not be eligible for such a
penalty.

(c) Review of evidence. The letter of
charges, the response, and any other
information available to FNS shall be
reviewed and considered by the appro-
priate FNS regional office, which shall
then issue the determination.

(d) Basis for determination. The FNS
regional office making a disqualifica-
tion or penalty determination shall
consider: (1) The nature and scope of
the violations committed by personnel
of the firm, (2) any prior action taken
by FNS to warn the firm about the pos-
sibility that violations are occurring,
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and (3) any other evidence that shows
the firm’s intent to violate the regula-
tions.

(e) Penalties. FNS shall take action as
follows against any firm determined to
have violated the Act or regulations.
For the purposes of assigning a period
of disqualification, a warning letter
shall not be considered to be a sanc-
tion. A civil money penalty and a dis-
qualification shall be considered sanc-
tions for such purposes. The FNS re-
gional office shall:

(1) Disqualify a firm permanently if:
(i) Personnel of the firm have traf-

ficked as defined in § 271.2; or
(ii) Violations such as, but not lim-

ited to, the sale of ineligible items oc-
curred and the firm had twice before
been sanctioned.

(2) Disqualify the firm for 5 years if it
is to be the firm’s first sanction, the
firm had been previously advised of the
possibility that violations were occur-
ring and of possible consequences of
violating the regulations, and the evi-
dence shows that:

(i) It is the firm’s practice to sell ex-
pensive or conspicuous nonfood items,
cartons of cigarettes, or alcoholic bev-
erages in exchange for food coupons; or

(ii) The firm’s coupon redemptions
for a specified period of time exceed its
food sales for the same period of time;
or

(iii) A wholesale food concern’s re-
demptions of coupons for a specified
period of time exceed the redemptions
of all the specified authorized retail
food stores, nonprofit cooperative food-
purchasing ventures, group living ar-
rangements, drug addict and alcoholic
treatment programs, homeless meal
providers, and shelters for battered
women and children which the whole-
sale food concern was authorized to
serve during that time; or

(iv) A wholesale food concern’s stated
redemptions of coupons for a particular
retail food store, nonprofit cooperative
food-purchasing venture, group living
arrangement, drug addict and alcoholic
treatment program, homeless meal
providers, or shelters for battered
women and children exceeded the ac-
tual amount of coupons which that
firm or organization redeemed through
the wholesaler; or

(v) Personnel of the firm knowingly
accepted coupons from an unauthorized
firm or an individual known not to be
legally entitled to possess coupons.

(3) Disqualify the firm for 3 years if it
is to be the first sanction for the firm
and the evidence shows that:

(i) It is the firm’s practice to commit
violations such as the sale of common
nonfood items in amounts normally
found in a shopping basket and the
firm was previously advised of the pos-
sibility that violations were occurring
and of the possible consequences of vio-
lating the regulations; or

(ii) Any of the situations described in
paragraph (e)(2) of this section oc-
curred and FNS had not previously ad-
vised the firm of the possibility that
violations were occurring and of the
possible consequences of violating the
regulations; or

(iii) The firm is an authorized com-
munal dining facility, drug addiction
or alcoholic treatment and rehabilita-
tion program, group living arrange-
ment, homeless meal provider, meal
delivery service, or shelter for battered
women and children and it is the firm’s
practice to sell meals in exchange for
food coupons to persons not eligible to
purchase meals with food coupons and
the firm has been previously advised of
the possibility that violations were oc-
curring and of the possible con-
sequences of violating the regulations;
or

(iv) A wholesale food concern accept-
ed coupons from an authorized firm
which it was not authorized to serve
and the wholesale food concern had
been previously advised of the possibil-
ity that violations were occurring and
of possible consequences of violating
the regulations; or

(v) The firm is an authorized retail
food store and personnel of the firm
have engaged in food coupon trans-
actions with other authorized retail
stores, not including treatment pro-
grams, group living arrangements,
homeless meal providers, or shelters
for battered women and children, and
the firm had been previously advised of
the possibility that violations were oc-
curring and of the possible con-
sequences of violating the regulations.

(4) Disqualify the firm for 1 year if it
is to be the first sanction for the firm
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and the ownership or management per-
sonnel of the firm have committed vio-
lations such as the sale of common
nonfood items in amounts normally
found in a shopping basket, and FNS
had not previously advised the firm of
the possibility that violations were oc-
curring and of the possible con-
sequences of violating the regulations.

(5) Disqualify the firm for 6 months if
it is to be the first sanction for the
firm and the evidence shows that per-
sonnel of the firm have committed vio-
lations such as but not limited to the
sale of common nonfood items due to
carelessness or poor supervision by the
firm’s ownership or management.

(6) Double the appropriate period of
disqualification prescribed in para-
graphs (e) (2) through (5) of this section
as warranted by the evidence of viola-
tions if the same firm has once before
been assigned a sanction.

(7) Send the firm a warning letter if
violations are too limited to warrant a
disqualification.

(f) Criteria for civil money penalties for
hardship and transfer of ownership. (1)
FNS may impose a civil money penalty
as a sanction in lieu of disqualification
when the firm subject to a disqualifica-
tion is selling a substantial variety of
staple food items, and the firm’s dis-
qualification would cause hardship to
food stamp households because there is
no other authorized retail food store in
the area selling as large a variety of
staple food items at comparable prices.
FNS may disqualify a store which
meets the criteria for a civil money
penalty if the store had previously
been assigned a sanction. A civil
money penalty for hardship to food
stamp households may not be imposed
in lieu of a permanent disqualification.

(2) In the event any retail food store
or wholesale food concern which has
been disqualified is sold or the owner-
ship thereof is otherwise transferred to
a purchaser or transferee, the person or
other legal entity who sells or other-
wise transfers ownership of the retail
food store or wholesale food concern
shall be subjected to and liable for a
civil money penalty in an amount to
reflect that portion of the disqualifica-
tion period that has not expired, to be
calculated using the method found at
§ 278.6(g). If the retail food store or

wholesale food concern has been per-
manently disqualified, the civil money
penalty shall be double the penalty for
a ten year disqualification period. The
disqualification shall continue in effect
at the disqualified location for the per-
son or other legal entity who transfers
ownership of the retail food store or
wholesale food concern notwithstand-
ing the imposition of a civil money
penalty under this paragraph.

(3) At any time after a civil money
penalty imposed under paragraph (f) (2)
of this section has become final under
the provisions of part 279, the Food and
Consumer Service may request the At-
torney General institute a civil action
to collect the penalty from the person
or persons subject to the penalty in a
district court of the United States for
any district in which such person or
persons are found, reside, or transact
business.

(4) A bona fide transferee of a retail
food store shall not be required to pay
a civil money penalty imposed on the
firm prior to its transfer. A buyer or
transferee (other than a bona fide
buyer or transferee) may not be au-
thorized to accept or redeem coupons
and may not accept or redeem coupons
until the Secretary receives full pay-
ment of any penalty imposed on such
store or concern.

(g) Amount of civil money penalties for
hardship and transfer of ownership. FNS
shall determine the amount of the civil
money penalty as follows:

(1) Determine the firm’s average
monthly redemptions of coupons for
the 12-month period ending with the
month immediately preceding that
month during which the firm was
charged with violations.

(2) Multiply the average monthly re-
demption figure by 10 percent.

(3) Multiply the product arrived at in
paragraph (g)(2) by the number of
months for which the firm would have
been disqualified under paragraph (e) of
this section. The civil money penalty
may not exceed $10,000 for each viola-
tion.

(h) Notifying the firm of civil money
penalties for hardship and transfer of
ownership. A firm has 15 days from the
date the FNS regional office notifies
the firm in writing in which to pay the
civil money penalty, or to notify the
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regional office in writing of its intent
to pay in installments as specified by
the regional office. The firm must
present to FNS a collateral bond as
specified in § 278.1(b)(4), within the
same 15-day period. The civil money
penalty must be paid in full by the end
of the period for which the firm would
have been disqualified. FNS shall:

(1) Disqualify the firm for the period
determined to be appropriate under
paragraph (e) of this section if the firm
refuses to pay any of the civil money
penalty;

(2) Disqualify the firm for a period
corresponding to the unpaid part of the
civil money penalty if the firm does
not pay the civil money penalty in full
or in installments as specified by the
FNS regional office; or

(3) Disqualify the firm for the pre-
scribed period if the firm does not
present a collateral bond within the re-
quired 15 days. Any payment on a civil
money penalty which have been re-
ceived by FNS shall be returned to the
firm. If the firm presents the required
bond during the disqualification pe-
riod, the civil money penalty may be
reinstated for the duration of the dis-
qualification period.

(i) Criteria for eligibility for a civil
money penalty in lieu of permanent dis-
qualification for trafficking. FNS may
impose a civil money penalty in lieu of
a permanent disqualification for traf-
ficking as defined in § 271.2 if the firm
timely submits to FNS substantial evi-
dence which demonstrates that the
firm had established and implemented
an effective compliance policy and pro-
gram to prevent violations of the Pro-
gram. Firms assessed a CMP under this
paragraph shall be subject to the appli-
cable penalties included in §§ 278.6(e) (2)
through (6) for the sale of ineligible
items. Only those firms for which a
permanent disqualification for traf-
ficking took effect on or after October
1, 1988, are eligible for a civil money
penalty in lieu of permanent disquali-
fication for trafficking, except that
firms that have been disqualified but
are awaiting a judicial review decision
are eligible for a civil money penalty
in lieu of a permanent disqualification.
In determining the minimum standards
of eligibility of a firm for a civil money
penalty in lieu of a permanent dis-

qualification for trafficking, the firm
shall, at a minimum, establish by sub-
stantial evidence its fulfillment of each
of the following criteria:

Criterion 1. The firm shall have developed
an effective compliance policy as specified in
§ 278.6(i)(1); and

Criterion 2. The firm shall establish that
both its compliance policy and program were
in operation at the location where the viola-
tion(s) occurred prior to the occurrence of
violations cited in the charge letter sent to
the firm; and

Criterion 3. The firm had developed and in-
stituted an effective personnel training pro-
gram as specified in § 278.6(i)(2); and

Criterion 4. Neither firm ownership nor
management were aware of, approved, bene-
fitted from, or were in any way involved in
the conduct or approval of trafficking viola-
tions. For purposes of this section, a person
is considered to be part of firm management
if that individual has substantial supervisory
responsibilities with regard to directing the
activities and work assignments of store em-
ployees. Such supervisory responsibilities
shall include the authority to hire employees
for the store or to terminate the employ-
ment of individuals working for the store.

(1) Compliance policy standards. As
specified in Criterion 1 above, in deter-
mining whether a firm has established
an effective policy to prevent viola-
tions, FNS shall consider written and
dated statements of firm policy which
reflect a commitment to ensure that
the firm is operated in a manner con-
sistent with this part 278 of current
FSP regulations and current FSP pol-
icy on the proper acceptance and han-
dling of food coupons. As required by
Criterion 2, such policy statements
shall be considered only if documenta-
tion is supplied which establishes that
the policy statements were provided to
the violating employee(s) prior to the
commission of the violation. In addi-
tion, in evaluating the effectiveness of
the firm’s policy and program to en-
sure FSP compliance and to prevent
FSP violations, FNS may consider the
following:

(i) Documentation reflecting the de-
velopment and/or operation of a policy
to terminate the employment of any
firm employee found violating FSP
regulations;

(ii) Documentation of the develop-
ment and/or continued operation of
firm policy and procedures resulting in
appropriate corrective action following
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complaints of FSP violations or irreg-
ularities committed by firm personnel;

(iii) Documentation of the develop-
ment and/or continued operation of
procedures for internal review of firm
employees’ compliance with FSP regu-
lations;

(iv) The nature and scope of the vio-
lations charged against the firm;

(v) Any record of previous firm viola-
tions under the same ownership or
management; and

(vi) Any other information the firm
may present to FNS for consideration.

(2) Compliance training program stand-
ards. As prescribed in Criterion 3 above,
the firm shall have developed and im-
plemented an effective training pro-
gram for all managers and employees
on the acceptance and handling of food
coupons in accordance with this part
278. A firm which seeks a civil money
penalty in lieu of a permanent dis-
qualification shall document its train-
ing activity by submitting to FNS its
dated training curricula and records of
dates training sessions were conducted;
a record of dates of employment of
firm personnel; and contemporaneous
documentation of the participation of
the violating employee(s) in initial and
any follow-up training held prior to the
violation(s). FNS shall consider a
training program effective if it meets
or is otherwise equivalent to the fol-
lowing standards:

(i) Training for all managers and em-
ployees whose work brings them into
contact with food stamps or who are
assigned to a location where food
stamps are accepted, handled or proc-
essed shall be conducted within one
month of the institution of the compli-
ance policy under Criterion 1 above.
Employees hired subsequent to the in-
stitution of the compliance policy shall
be trained within one month of em-
ployment. All employees shall be
trained periodically thereafter;

(ii) Training shall be designed to es-
tablish a level of competence that
assures compliance with Program re-
quirements as included in this part 278;

(iii) Written materials, which may
include FNS publications and program
regulations that are available to all au-
thorized firms, are used in the training
program. Training materials shall
clearly state that the following acts

are prohibited and are in violation of
the Food Stamp Act and regulations:
the exchange of food coupons, ATP
cards or other program access devices
for cash; and, in exchange for coupons,
the sale of firearms, ammunition, ex-
plosives or controlled substances, as
the term is defined in section 802 of
title 21, United States Code.

(j) Amount of civil money penalty in
lieu of permanent disqualification for
trafficking. A civil money penalty as-
sessed in accordance with § 278.6(i) shall
not exceed $20,000 for each violation
and shall not exceed $40,000 for all vio-
lations occurring during a single inves-
tigation. FNS shall determine the
amount of the civil money penalty as
follows:

(1) Determine the firm’s average
monthly redemptions for the 12-month
period ending with the month imme-
diately preceding the month during
which the firm was charged with viola-
tions;

(2) Multiply the average monthly re-
demption figure by 10 percent;

(3) For the first trafficking offense by
a firm, multiply the product obtained
in § 278.6(j)(2) by 60 if the largest
amount of food coupons, ATP cards, or
other benefit instruments involved in a
single trafficking transaction had a
face value of $99 or less. If the face
value of coupons, ATP cards or other
benefit instruments involved in the
largest single trafficking transaction
was $100 or more, the amount of the
product obtained in this paragraph
shall be doubled;

(4) For a second trafficking offense
by a firm, multiply the product ob-
tained in § 278.6(j)(2) by 120 if the larg-
est amount of food coupons, ATP cards,
or other benefit instruments involved
in a single trafficking transaction had
a face value of $99 or less and the same
firm has once before been sanctioned
for trafficking in food coupons, ATP
cards, or other benefit instruments. If
the face value of food coupons, ATP
cards, or other benefit instruments in-
volved in the largest single trafficking
transaction was $100 or more, the
amount of the product obtained in this
paragraph shall be doubled; and

(5) If a third trafficking offense is
committed by the firm, the firm shall
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not be eligible for a civil money pen-
alty in lieu of disqualification.

(k) Payment of civil money penalty in
lieu of a permanent disqualification for
trafficking. Payment of the full amount
of the civil money penalty in lieu of
permanent disqualification for traf-
ficking shall be made within 30 days of
the date the final determination was
received by the firm. If payment is not
made within the prescribed period, the
right to the civil money penalty in lieu
of a permanent disqualification is for-
feited and disqualification shall be-
come effective immediately.

(l) Fines for the acceptance of loose
coupons. FNS may impose a fine
against any retail food store or whole-
sale food concern that accepts coupons
that are not accompanied by the cor-
responding book cover, other than the
denomination of coupons used for mak-
ing change as specified in § 278.2(d) or
coupons accepted from homeless meal
providers as specified in § 278.2(c). The
fine to be assessed against a firm found
to be accepting loose coupons shall be
$500 per investigation plus an amount
equal to double the face value of each
loose coupon accepted, and may be as-
sessed and collected in addition to any
fiscal claim established by FNS. The
fine shall be paid in full within 30 days
of the firm’s receipt of FNS’ notifica-
tion to pay the fine. The Attorney Gen-
eral of the United States may institute
judicial action in any court of com-
petent jurisdiction against the store or
concern to collect the fine. FNS may
withdraw the authorization of the
store, as well as other authorized loca-
tions of a multi-unit firm which are
under the same ownership, for failure
to pay such a fine as specified under
§ 278.1(k). FNS may deny the authoriza-
tion of any firm that has failed to pay
such fines as specified under § 278.1(j).

(m) Fines for unauthorized third parties
that accept food stamps. FNS may im-
pose a fine against any individual, sole
proprietorship, partnership, corpora-
tion or other legal entity not approved
by FNS to accept and redeem food cou-
pons for any violation of the provisions
of the Food Stamp Act or the program
regulations, including violations in-
volving the acceptance of coupons. The
fine shall be $1,000 for each violation
plus an amount equal to three times

the face value of the illegally accepted
food coupons. The fine shall be paid in
full within 30 days of the individual’s
or legal entity’s receipt of FNS’ notifi-
cation to pay the fine. The Attorney
General of the United States may insti-
tute judicial action in any court of
competent jurisdiction against the per-
son to collect the fine. FNS may with-
draw the authorization of any firm
that is under the same ownership as an
unauthorized firm that has failed to
pay such a fine, as specified under
§ 278.1(k). FNS may deny authorization
to any firm that has failed to pay such
a fine, as specified under § 278.1(j).

(n) Review of determination. The deter-
mination of the FNS regional office
shall be final and not subject to further
administrative or judicial review un-
less a written request for review is filed
within the period stated in § 279.5.

(o) Delivery of notice. The delivery by
certified mail or personal service of
any notice required of FNS by this part
will constitute notice to the addressee
of its contents.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 236, 47 FR 56471, Dec. 17,
1982; Amdt. 236, 49 FR 22057, May 25, 1984;
Amdt. 258, 49 FR 28393, July 12, 1984; Amdt.
286, 52 FR 7558, Mar. 11, 1987; Amdt. 280, 52 FR
13222, Apr. 22, 1987; Amdt. 311, 54 FR 18645,
May 2, 1989; Amdt. 323, 55 FR 31812, Aug. 6,
1990; Amdt. 344, 56 FR 54778, Oct. 23, 1991;
Amdt. 334, 57 FR 3912, Feb. 3, 1992; Amdt. 354,
59 FR 27434, May 27, 1994; 62 FR 40928, July 31,
1997]

§ 278.7 Determination and disposition
of claims—retail food stores and
wholesale food concerns.

(a) Claims against violators. FNS may
establish and pursue claims against
firms or other entities which have ac-
cepted or redeemed coupons in viola-
tion of the Food Stamp Act or this part
regardless of whether the firms or enti-
ties are authorized to accept food
stamps. If a firm fails to pay a claim,
FNS may collect the claim by offset-
ting against amounts due the firm on
redemption of other coupons or by de-
ducting the amounts due from bonds
posted by firms in compliance with the
provisions of § 278.1(b)(4). FNS shall
deny an application for authorization
or reauthorization by a firm which has
failed to pay a claim.
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(b) Forfeiture of a collateral bond. If
FNS establishes a claim against an au-
thorized firm which has previously
been sanctioned, collection of the
claim may be through total or partial
forfeiture of the collateral bond. If
FNS determines that forfeiture is re-
quired for collection of the claim, FNS
shall take one or more of the following
actions, as appropriate.

(1) Determine the amount of the bond
to be forfeited on the basis of the loss
to the Government through violations
of the act, and this part, as detailed in
a letter of charges to the firm;

(2) Send written notification by cer-
tified mail-return receipt requested to
the firm and the bonding agent, of
FNS’ determination regarding forfeit-
ure of all or a specified part of the col-
lateral bond, and the reasons for the
forfeiture;

(3) Advise the firm and the bonding
agent of the firm’s right to administra-
tive review of the claim determination;

(4) Advise the firm and the bonding
agent that if payment of the current
claim is not received directly from the
firm, FNS shall obtain full payment
through forfeiture of the bond;

(5) Proceed with collection on the
bond for the amount forfeited if a re-
quest for review is not filed by the firm
within the period established in § 279.5,
or if such review is unsuccessful; and

(6) Upon the expiration of time per-
mitted for the filing of a request for
administratve and/or judicial review,
deposit the bond in a Federal Reserve
Bank account or in the Treasury Ac-
count, General. If FNS requires only a
portion of the face value of the bond to
satisfy a claim, the entire bond will be
negotiated, and the remaining amount
returned to the firm.

(c) Coupons accepted without author-
ization. (1) The FNS officer in charge
may approve the redemption under
§ 278.4 of coupons accepted by firms be-
fore the receipt of an authorization
card from FNS if the following condi-
tions exist:

(i) The coupons were received in ac-
cordance with the requirements of this
part governing acceptance of coupons
except the requirement that the firm
be authorized before acceptance;

(ii) The coupons were accepted by the
firm in good faith, and without intent
to circumvent this part; and

(iii) The firm receives authorization
to participate in the program.

(2) Firms seeking approval to redeem
coupons accepted without authoriza-
tion shall present a written application
for approval to the local FNS field of-
fice. This application shall be accom-
panied by a written statement signed
by the firm of all the facts about the
acceptance of the coupons. The state-
ment shall also include a certification
that the coupons were accepted in good
faith, and without any intent to cir-
cumvent this part.

(d) Burned or mutilated coupons. FNS
may redeem burned or mutilated cou-
pons only to the extent that the Bu-
reau of Engraving and Printing of the
United States Treasury Department
can determine the value of the cou-
pons. The firm presenting burned or
mutilated coupons for redemption shall
submit the coupons to the local FNS
field office with a properly filled-out
redemption certificate. In the section
of the redemption certificate for enter-
ing the amount of coupons to be re-
deemed, an estimate of the value of the
burned or mutilated coupons submitted
for redemption shall be entered if the
exact value of the coupons is unknown.
The phrase ‘‘Deputy Administrator for
Fiscal Management, FNS, USDA,’’
should be entered in the section of the
redemption certificate for entering the
name and address of the insured finan-
cial institution or wholesaler.

(e) Old series coupons. FNS may re-
deem the old series food coupons issued
in 50-cent, 2-dollar, and 5-dollar de-
nominations when they are presented
for redemption. Firms presenting the
coupons for redemption shall submit
the coupons to the local FNS field of-
fice with a properly completed redemp-
tion certificate and a written state-
ment, signed by a representative of the
firm, detailing the circumstances of
the acceptance of the coupons.

(f) Denials of claims brought by author-
ized firms against FNS. If a claim
brought by a firm against FNS under
this section is denied in whole or in
part, notification of this action shall
be sent to the firm by certified mail or
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personal service. If the firm is ag-
grieved by this action, it may seek ad-
ministrative review as provided in
§ 278.8.

(g) Lost or stolen coupons. FNS may
not be held liable for claims from retail
food stores, meal services, or wholesale
food concerns for lost or stolen cou-
pons.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 258, 49 FR 28393, July 12,
1984; Amdt. 257, 49 FR 32538, Aug. 15, 1984;
Amdt. 262, 49 FR 50598, Dec. 31, 1984]

§ 278.8 Administrative review—retail
food stores and wholesale food con-
cerns.

(a) Requesting review. A food retailer
or wholesaler aggrieved by administra-
tive action under § 278.1, § 278.6 or § 278.7
may, within the period stated in § 279.5,
file a written request for review of the
administrative action with the review
officer. On receipt of the request for re-
view, the questioned administrative ac-
tion shall be stayed pending disposition
of the request for review by the review
officer. A disqualification for failure to
pay a civil money penalty shall not be
subject to an administrative review.

(b) Addressing the request. The request
for review shall be filed with the Direc-
tor, Administrative Review Division,
U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food
and Nutrition Service, Room 304, 3101
Park Center Drive, Alexandria, Vir-
ginia 22302.

(c) Review procedure. The procedure
for food stamp reviews in published in
part 279 and is available upon request
from the Director, Administrative Re-
view Division.

[Amdt. 236, 49 FR 22058, May 25, 1984]

§ 278.9 Implementation of amendments
relating to the participation of re-
tail food stores, wholesale food con-
cerns and insured financial institu-
tions.

(a) Amendment 224. Retail food stores
shall have signs posted as required by
this amendment no later than 30 days
after distribution of the signs by FNS.

(b) Amendment 257. With the excep-
tion of the provisions in § 278.5 requir-
ing redeeming financial institutions to
verify that coupons are supported by
redemption certificates, the revisions
to part 278 shall be effective September

14, 1984. Redeeming financial institu-
tions shall begin verifying coupon de-
posits as required by § 278.5 in accord-
ance with the schedule determined by
the Federal Reserve Board. Insured fi-
nancial institutions shall adhere to
preexisting requirements for handling
redemption certificates (at 7 CFR
278.5(a)) until their Federal Reserve
District implements the procedures
contained in this final rule. FNS shall
not be liable for any losses of coupons
in transit to Federal Reserve Banks or
as a result of a burglary or robbery of
an insured financial institution which
occur after September 14, 1984.

(c) Amendment 267. The federally in-
sured credit unions authorized to re-
deem food stamps under this amend-
ment may begin accepting food stamps
for redemption not later than March
27, 1986.

(d) The program changes of Amend-
ment 272 at § 278.5(a) (1) and (3) are ef-
fective upon publication of the amend-
ment. Financial institutions must im-
plement the provisions no later than
April 21, 1986.

(e) Amendment No. 286. The provisions
for part 278 of Amendment No. 286 were
effective March 11, 1987 for purposes of
submitting applications for authoriza-
tion to accept food stamps. For all
other purposes, the effective date was
April 1, 1987.

(f) Amendment No. 280. The provisions
for part 271 and §§ 278.1(r) and 278.6(f) of
No. 280 are effective retroactively to
April 1, 1987. The provision for § 278.1(o)
is effective May 22, 1987.

(g) Amendment No. 304. The technical
amendment for part 278 of Amendment
No. 304 was effective August 1, 1988.

(h) Amendment No. 323. The program
changes made to § 278.6 by this amend-
ment are retroactively effective Octo-
ber 1, 1988.

(i) Amendment No. 334. The program
changes made to § 278.1 and § 278.6 by
this amendment are effective February
1, 1992. The program changes made to
§ 271.2 and § 271.5 by this amendment are
retroactively effective to November 28,
1990, as specified in Pub. L. No. 101–624.

(j) Amendment No. 354. The program
changes made to § 271.2 and § 278.6 by
this amendment are effective October
1, 1993.
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(k) Amendment No. 331. The program
changes made to §§ 271.2 and 278.5 by
this amendment are effective Decem-
ber 22, 1994.

(l) Amendment No. 335. Expanded au-
thority to use and disclose information
about firms participating in the FSP
under CFR 278.1(r) for currently au-
thorized firms is effective and will be
implemented beginning February 25,
1997 but not before 60-days after the
date of notices to such firms, notifying
them of the changes. The only excep-
tion to the above is that such disclo-
sure of information shall not apply to
firms that are withdrawn or are dis-
qualified from FSP participation prior
to implementation, unless such firms
participate in the FSP at a future date
subsequent to the implementation
date.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43274, Sept. 22, 1978]

EDITORIAL NOTE: For FEDERAL REGISTER
citations affecting § 278.9, see the List of CFR
Sections Affected appearing in the Finding
Aids section of this volume.

§ 278.10 [Reserved]

PART 279—ADMINISTRATIVE AND
JUDICIAL REVIEW—FOOD RETAIL-
ERS AND FOOD WHOLESALERS

Subpart A—Administrative Review—
General

Sec.
279.1 Scope and purpose.
279.2 Administrative review officer.
279.3 Authority and jurisdiction.
279.4 Rules of procedure.

Subpart B—Rules of Procedure

279.5 Manner of filing requests for review.
279.6 Content of request for review.
279.7 Action upon receipt of a request for re-

view.
279.8 Determination of the administrative

review officer.
279.9 Legal advice and extensions of time.

Subpart C—Judicial Review

279.10 Judicial review.
279.11 Implementation of amendments re-

lating to administrative and judicial re-
view.

AUTHORITY: 7 U.S.C. 2011–2032.

SOURCE: Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43279, Sept. 22,
1978, unless otherwise noted.

Subpart A—Administrative
Review—General

§ 279.1 Scope and purpose.

Subpart A sets forth the procedure
for the designation of the administra-
tive review officers and the authority
and jurisdiction of those officers. Sub-
part B states the rules of procedure to
be followed in the filing and disposition
of the requests for review provided for
in § 278.8. Subpart C concerns the rights
of food retailers and food wholesalers
to judicial review of the final deter-
minations of the administrative review
officer.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43279, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 356, 59 FR 29714, June 9,
1994]

§ 279.2 Administrative review officer.

(a) Designation of review officers. The
Administrator, FNS, shall designate
one or more persons to act as adminis-
trative review officers.

(b) Assigning cases to review officers.
The officers shall serve for periods
which the Administrator, FNS, shall
determine. Changes in designations and
additional designations may be made
from time to time at the discretion of
the Administrator, FNS. When more
than one administrative review officer
has been designated, requests for re-
view will be assigned for handling to
individual administrative review offi-
cers by a person designated by the Ad-
ministrator, FNS. The names of the ad-
ministrative review officers shall be on
file in the Office of the Administrator,
FNS.

[Amdt. 136, 43 FR 43279, Sept. 22, 1978, as
amended by Amdt. 356, 59 FR 29714, June 9,
1994]

§ 279.3 Authority and jurisdiction.

(a) Jurisdiction. An administrative re-
view officer shall act for the Depart-
ment on requests for review filed by
firms aggrieved by any of the following
actions:

(1) Denial of an application or with-
drawal of authorization to participate
in the program under § 278.1;

(2) Disqualification from participa-
tion in the program or imposition of a
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